IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

ERICA WEST VANGEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
NO. 20-1647

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LINN COUNTY
HONORABLE RUSSELL G. KEAST, ASSOCIATE JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE
Assistant Appellate Defender
mnye@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the evidence was insufficient to support Erica West Vangen's conviction as either a principal or as an aider and abettor?

Authorities

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 150 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Folkers, 941 N.W.2d 337, 338 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Polly, 657 N.W.2d 462, 467 (2003)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ramirez, 616 N.W.2d 587, 591-92 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Bratthauer, 354 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Tyler, 873 N.W.2d 741, 753-54 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Hogrefe, 557 N.W.2d 871, 881 (Iowa 1996)

Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46 (1991)

State v. Neff, 228 Iowa 383, 291 N.W. 415 (1940)

State v. Mays, 204 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Martens, 569 N.W.2d 482 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Taylor, 873 N.W.2d 741, 754 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 814.28 (2019)

Iowa Const. art. V § 4

Fisk v. Chicago Ry., 74 Iowa 424 (Iowa 1888)

Gordon v. Noel, 356 N.W.2d 559, 565 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 76 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Tyler, 873 N.W.2d 741, 754 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Const. Art. V § 4 (1857)

Iowa Const. Art. V § 4 (1962)

Frink v. Clark, 285 N.W. 681, 684 (1939)

Moseley v. Ricks, 274 N.W. 23, 24 (1937)

LaRose v. Curoe, 343 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24

Hensley v. Davison Bros., Co., 135 Iowa 106, 112 N.W. 227, 227-28 (1907)

State v. Prouty, 84 N.W. 670, 673 (1900)

Iowa Const. Art I § 4

Iowa Code § 602.4102 (2019)

Iowa Code § 602.5103 (2019)

United States v. Klein, 80 U.S. 128, 146 (1871)

State v. Abrahamson, 696 N.W.2d 589, 593 (Iowa 2005)

State ex rel. Allee v. Gocha, 555 N.W.2d 683, 685 (Iowa 1996)

Richardson v. Fitzgerald, 109 N.W. 866, 867 (1906)

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 6

State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656, 662 (Iowa 2019)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 883 (Iowa 2009)

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, 880 N.W.2d 699, 710 (Iowa 2016)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 369 N.W.2d 226, 238 (Iowa 2002)

Behm v. City of Cedar Rapids, 922 N.W.2d 524, 566 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Jones, 29 P.3d 351, 370 (Haw. 2001)

Com. v. Plunkett, 664 N.E.2d 837 (Mass. 1996)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 173 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Reed, 875 N.W.2d 693, 708–09 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 619 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Thorndike, 860 N.W.2d 316, 320–23 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 72–73 (Iowa 2017)

U.S. Const. amend XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 9

Iowa Code § 814.28 (2019)

Mussachio v. United States, 136 S.Ct. 709, 715 (2016)

State v. Lewis, 242 N.W.2d 711, 719 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Tyler, 873 N.W.2d 741, 754 (Iowa 2016)

Fisk v. Chicago Ry., 74 Iowa 424, 432-34 (Iowa 1888)

Gordon v. Noel, 356 N.W.2d 559, 565 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Jones, 29 P.3d 351, 371 (Haw. 2001)

State v. Ortega-Martinez, 881 P.2d 231, 235 (Wash. 1994)

II. Whether the district court erred in assessing against West Vangen category B restitution without considering her reasonable ability to pay?

Authorities

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a) (2021)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

State v Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 47-54, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 2121-2125 (1974)

James v. Strange, 407 U.S. 128, 135-139, 92 S.Ct. 2027, 2031-2034 (1972)

Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 672-673, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2073 (1983)

Alexander v. Johnson, 742 F.2d 117, 124 (4th Cir. 1984)

Olson v. James, 603 F.2d 150, 153-155 (10th Cir. 1979)

State v. Rogers, 251 N.W.2d 239, 245 (Iowa 1977)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 615 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 161 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Davis, 944 N.W.2d 641, 646 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 646 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Hawk, 952 N.W.2d 314, 316 (Iowa 2020)

2020 Iowa Acts ch. 1074, Div. XIII

Iowa Code § 815.9(3) (2021)

Iowa Code § 815.9(5) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.1(2) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a)(2) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.2A (2021)

Iowa Code §§ 910.2A(1), (2), (3), (5)

Iowa Code §§ 910.3(8), (9) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.7 (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.7(1) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.7(5) (2021)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344-45, 83 S. Ct. 792, 796-97 (1963)

Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 53, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 2124 (1974)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 794 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 910.2A(1)-(4)

Iowa Code § 910.2A(5)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 614 (Iowa 2009)

United States v. Jackson, 390 U.S. 570, 582, 88 S.Ct. 1209, 1216 (1968)

U.S. Const. amend. V

U.S. Const. XIV, § 1

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Exira Community Sch. Dist. v. State, 512 N.W.2d 787, 792-93 (Iowa 1994)

Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 665, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2069 (1983)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 796 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 910.2A(1)-(4)

Iowa Code § 910.2A(5)

Iowa Code § 910.7(1) (2021)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa Code § 910.7(5) (2021)

Iowa R. App. 6.107(1)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 647 (Iowa 2010)

III. During sentencing, was any consideration of West Vangen’s exercise of her constitutional right to demand a trial was improper and the district court erred by considering it when imposing sentence?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 434–35 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (2017)

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Witham, 583 N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa Code § 901.5 (2017)

State v. Nichols, 247 N.W.2d 249, 255 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 501 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 2014)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because this case involves two issues of first impression in Iowa. R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, this case challenges the constitutionality of last year's amendments to Iowa Code chapter 910's restitution recoupment scheme. See 2020 Iowa Acts ch. 1074, Div. XIII. Further, this appeal challenges the constitutionality of recently enacted Iowa Code section 814.28 purporting to prohibit the appellate courts from reversing a conviction based on a general verdict "on the basis of a defective or insufficient theory if one or more of the theories presented and described in the complaint, information, indictment, or jury instruction is sufficient to sustain the verdict on at least one count."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Erica West Vangen appeals her conviction, judgment and sentence for fourth degree criminal mischief, a serious misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code

sections 716.1. 716.6(1)(a)(1), 716.6(1)(b), and 703.1 (2019) following a jury trial in the Linn County District Court.

Course of Proceedings: The State charged Erica West Vangen with criminal mischief in the fourth degree. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-7). West Vangen pled not guilty and the case proceeded to a jury trial. (Written Arraignment; Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 1) (App. p. 8).

The court entered a notice advising West Vangen that the court would presume she had the reasonable ability to pay Category B restitution if she did not request the court determine whether she had that ability and she would lose any chance to challenge her ability to pay Category B restitution in full. (Notice Regarding Restitution) (App. pp. 9-11).

The State amended the trial information to include an aiding and abetting theory, and the trial information was approved. (Motion to Amend; Amended Trial Information; Order Approving Trial Information) (App. pp. 12-15).

A jury convicted West Vangen as charged. (Order following Verdict) (App. pp. 26-27). The district court sentenced West Vangen to 30 days in jail, but suspended the term and placed her on unsupervised probation for two years. (Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 28-29). The court assessed all costs and attorney fees against West Vangen without making a finding that she had the reasonable ability to pay and ordered that she pay all sums ordered as a condition of her probation. (Sentencing Tr. p. 8 L. 20 – p. 9 L. 17). In the court’s written sentencing order, the court found West Vangen had not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that she lacked the reasonable ability to pay all applicable Category B costs. (Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 28-29).

West Vangen filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 30-31).

Facts: On the morning of March 30, 2020, Jonnae Cole’s Buick Rendezvous was parked on the street in front of the home she shared with her mother, Monick Williams and Monick’s

husband, Alex. (Trial Tr. Day 1 p. 10 L. 7 – 24; p. 27 L. 7-23). At about 4:00am, Monick and Alex used the Rendezvous to pick up Alex’s friend because Alex was receiving threats from someone named Yayo. When they returned at 5:19am, they parked the car in the street in front of the house. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 16 L. 17-23; p. 28 L. 1 – p. 29 L. 5). Shortly after, the car was vandalized. The two driver’s side windows were shattered, the driver’s side mirror was broken, and the front driver’s side tire was slashed. (Trial Tr. Day 1 p. 11 L. 15-24; p. 29 L. 6 – p. 30 L. 6; State’s Exs. 1 and 6) (App. pp. 16-17). A neighbor’s security camera captured the incident. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 46 L. 7 – p. 47 L. 22; State’s Ex. 13).

When the damage was discovered later that morning, Monick suspected Erica West Vangen as the culprit. Alex had had a brief extramarital relationship with West Vangen, and Monick testified that West Vangen had confronted them about the affair recently. (Trial Tr. Day 1 p. 32 L. 23 – p. 36 L. 15).

West Vangen testified that Alex owed her about \$200 from when he had stayed with her previously. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 81 L. 12 – p. 82 L. 6). However, she denied causing any damage to the car. She testified that a mutual acquaintance named Yayo was at her house that night. Throughout the night and into the morning of March 30, 2020, her husband and Yayo were messaging with Alex. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 79 L. 6 – p. 80 L. 20). In the early morning, Yayo and her husband told West Vangen to come along with them to get the money Alex owed her. (Trial Tr. Day p. 81 L. 11-17; p. 82 L. 16 – p. 83 L. 4). They all got in her car: West Vangen driving, her husband in the passenger seat and Yayo in the backseat. (Trial Tr. Day 1 p. 84 L. 8-10). She pulled up in front of Monick and Alex’s house, and Yayo told her to stop on the street near the Rendezvous. “The next thing I know he’s out and all I see is bashing.” Yayo had gotten out of the car and hit the Rendezvous repeatedly with a baseball bat while her husband got out of the passenger side of the car and stabbed the tire of the Rendezvous. (Trial

Tr. Day 1 p. 83 L. 25 – p. 85 L. 20). She testified that she did not cause any damage to the car, nor did she know or intend that that anyone else would damage the car. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 83 L. 85 L. 14-20; p. 89 L. 14 – p. 90 L. 9).

Cedar Rapids Police Officer Tyler Richardson investigated the incident. After interviewing Jonnae and Monick and Alex Williams, he took photos of the damaged car and determined that the incident was recorded by a security camera on a neighbor's house. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 43 L. 10-14; p. 45 L. 11 – p. 47 L. 16; State's Ex. 13). He eventually interviewed West Vangen. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 50 L. 5 – p. 51 L. 4). During the interview, she initially denied having any involvement in the incident, but later admitted that she drove the car. She did not mention that Yayo was in the car with them. She, however, consistently and adamantly denied causing any of the damage to the Rendezvous. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 56 L. 7-24; State's Ex. 14). The officer located her car and confirmed it was consistent with the car seen in the surveillance video. He also found a

small baseball bat behind the driver's seat. (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 51 L. 5 – p. 52 L. 11).

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT ERICA WEST VANGEN'S CONVICTION AS EITHER A PRINCIPAL OR AS AN AIDER AND ABETTOR.

A. Error Preservation. To preserve error on a sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim, defendants are generally expected to make a motion for judgment of acquittal which “identif[ies] specific elements of the charge not supported by the evidence.” State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 150 (Iowa 2019). Error was preserved when West Vangen moved for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's evidence. She argued that the evidence did not establish that “the driver of vehicle got out – got out of the vehicle, despite the insistence of Officer Richardson; that there is no physical evidence, no fingerprints or anything along those lines, that would tie Ms. Vangen to the event.” (Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 73 L. 24 – p. 74 L. 9). The court denied the motion without asking the State for a response. (Trial Tr. Day 1 p. 74 L. 12-15).

At the close of the defense's presentation of evidence, the motion was renewed. (Trial Tr. Day 2, p. 38 L. 22-25). The motion was again denied, without argument from the State. (Trial Tr. Day 2, p. 39 L. 1-5).

Although trial counsel never specifically mentioned the lack of evidence supporting an aiding and abetting theory, the court "recognize[s] an exception to the general error-preservation rule when the record indicates that the grounds for a motion were obvious and understood by the trial court and counsel." State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27 (Iowa 2005). When the "fighting issue at trial" is obvious and the trial record "clearly reveals the trial court and counsel understood" the target of the motion for judgment of acquittal, error is preserved. Williams, 695 N.W.2d at 28. In this case, just as in Williams, the fighting issue was clear throughout trial. The defense conceded West Vangen drove the car and was present the morning when the Rendezvous was damaged. (Trial Tr. Day 2, p. 52 L. 4 – p. 53 L. 8) (closing argument)). The disagreement

at trial was whether West Vangen stayed in the car during the attack or participated in the vandalism and whether, if she stayed in the car, she knew that her husband and Yayo were planning when she drove them to the house. (Trial Day 2, p. 53 L. 9 – p. 55 L. 10; p. 55 L. 16-21; p. 56 L. 3-11; p. 56 L. 12-23) (closing argument)). Accordingly, error has been preserved on West Vangen’s claim that the evidence was insufficient on both theories of liability.

B. Standard of Review. Challenges to the sufficiency of evidence are reviewed for errors at law. State v. Folkers, 941 N.W.2d 337, 338 (Iowa 2020). “Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewing it in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Polly, 657 N.W.2d 462, 467 (2003). The court will consider “all of the evidence presented at trial, not just evidence that supports the verdict.” State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2004).

C. Discussion. The appellate court will uphold a verdict “if substantial record evidence supports it.” State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006). “Evidence is considered substantial if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it can convince a rational jury that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012).

1. Evidence as a principal. To convict West Vangen of criminal mischief as a principal, the State had to prove that West Vangen “did an act . . . that damaged a vehicle belonging to Jonnae Cole”; that she did the act “with the specific intent to damage the property”; and she did not have the right to do so. (Jury Instr. No. 12) (App. p. 23). In this case, the evidence was insufficient to prove that West Vangen did an act that damaged Jonnae Cole’s vehicle.

West Vangen admitted that she transported the two men who damaged Cole’s car, but denied having any knowledge of their intent to damage the car until she saw them in the act.

(Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 56 L. 7-24; p. 79 L. 6 – p. 85 L. 20; State’s Ex. 14 at 3:58 – 5:50; 8:03 – 8:19; 12:25 – 13:35). The neighbor’s surveillance video provided the only “eyewitness” account of the incident. (State’s Ex. 13; Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 20 L. 23 – p. 21 L. 4; p. 29 L. 10-22).

The video shows West Vangen’s car pull up next to Cole’s car and a man get out of the front passenger seat, run around to Cole’s car, puncture the tire, and get back in West Vangen’s car. (State’s Ex. 13 at 0:06 – 0:19).

The video also shows someone on the driver’s side hitting Cole’s car with what is presumed to be a baseball bat. (State’s Ex. 13 at 0:10-0:25). The State alleged this was West Vangen. The video is too grainy to make out much about this person, but the video does show that the brake lights remained illuminated on West Vangen’s car throughout the incident, meaning the driver must have remained seated with her foot depressing the brake pedal throughout the incident. (State’s Ex. 0:03 - 0:23; Trial Tr. Day 2 p. 14 L. 25 – p. 17 L. 21; p. 32 L. 1 – 12; p. 32 L.

23 – p. 33 L. 12). Thus, West Vangen, as the driver, could not have been the person actually damaging Cole’s car. Therefore, the State’s evidence was insufficient to support a verdict against West Vangen as a principal, and the district court erred in denying West Vangen’s motion for judgment of acquittal.

2. Evidence of aiding and abetting. To prove West Vangen guilty of aiding and abetting criminal mischief, the State had to establish West Vangen aided and abetted another in committing an act that damaged Cole’s vehicle; she acted with the specific intent to damage the vehicle; and she did not have the right to do so. (Jury Instr. No. 10) (App. p. 21). To establish she aided and abetted, the State must have shown that she “knowingly approve[d] and agree[d] to the commission” of the crime, “either by active participation in it or by knowingly advising or encouraging the act in some way before or when it is committed.” (Jury Instr. No. 12) (App. p. 23). “Mere nearness to, or presence at, the scene of the crime, without more evidence, is not ‘aiding and abetting’.” Likewise, mere

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