IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1647

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ERICA LYNE WEST VANGEN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LINN COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RUSSELL G. KEAST, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
Thomas.Bakke@ag.iowa.gov

JERRY VANDER SANDEN
Linn County Attorney

RYAN DECKER & NINA SELLER
Assistant Linn County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Evidence was Sufficient on Both Theories Presented to the Jury.

Preservation of Error

The State contests error preservation. On appeal, West Vangen argues (1) the evidence was insufficient to establish she acted as a principal by actively damaging the victim’s car and (2) the evidence was insufficient to establish West Vangen aided and abetted others because she lacked the knowledge that others were going to damage the victim’s car when she provided them with transportation. *See* Appellant’s Br. at pp.30–34. But her motion for judgment of acquittal below was more limited and did not include this second argument. Thus, the State submits West Vangen’s challenge to the sufficiency of

the evidence as to the aiding and abetting theory is not preserved and should not be considered.

A general motion for judgment of acquittal is inadequate to permit appellate review for the sufficiency of the evidence. *See State v. Greene*, 592 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Iowa 1999). Instead, a particularized motion identifying the “specific elements of the charge that were insufficiently supported by the evidence” is required. *Id.* (citing *State v. Ceaser*, 585 N.W.2d 192, 195 (Iowa 1998), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862, 870–71 (Iowa 2009)). West Vangen’s motion failed to include the particular challenge now made on appeal as it relates to the State’s aiding and abetting theory:

Because the State has rested their case, we move for judgment of acquittal at this time. The—the evidence in this case, even in the light most favorable to the State, I believe, is an indication that we have video evidence; frankly, that I do not believe that the driver of the vehicle got out—got out of the vehicle, despite the insistence upon that by Officer Richardson; that there is no physical evidence, no fingerprints or anything along those lines, that would tie Ms. Vangen to the event.

T.Tr. Vol.I 73:25–74:9; *see* T.Tr. Vol.II 38:22–:25 (renewing the motion without elaboration).

Accordingly, because West Vangen’s motion below only addressed the sufficiency of the evidence on the theory that she acted as a principal, this Court should decline to consider her unpreserved argument on the aiding and abetting theory. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.”). Additionally, because West Vangen only preserved error on a single theory presented to the jury, her “[f]ailure to challenge one of the alternatives is tantamount to conceding substantial evidence supports that theory.” *State v. Triplett*, No. 19-1902, 2021 WL 3074475, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 21, 2021). And because Iowa Code section 814.28 requires this Court to affirm the conviction on the basis that the aiding and abetting theory was unchallenged, it “would be futile” to consider her preserved challenge that the evidence was insufficient to establish she was a principal. *Id.* Thus, this Court should decline to address the merits of the sufficiency challenge.

Recognizing her failure to preserve error on her sufficiency challenge, West Vangen attempts to request this Court excuse her failure because the “fighting issue at trial” was obvious and it was

thus understood what the target of her motion was. *See* Appellant’s Br. at p.28. This Court should decline her invitation to excuse her failure to preserve error. West Vangen’s motion for judgment of acquittal was specific in that it directly challenged the lack of physical evidence tying her to the actual commission of the criminal mischief, thus directly challenging the State’s theory that she acted as a principal. *See* T.Tr. Vol.I 73:25–74:9. Unlike in the case West Vangen cites, *State v. Williams*, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27 (Iowa 2005), there were multiple “fighting issues” at play here involving two different theories of the crime, and her motion was clearly targeted at only one of those issues, not all of them. It would be improper to conclude that it was obvious to all that West Vangen was actually challenging her knowledge that she was aiding and abetting others when her motion was entirely unrelated to that issue. She specifically chose to challenge the theory that she acted as a principal, and she cannot now change the record to expand her claim.

The State also challenges error preservation on West Vangen’s constitutional challenges to section 814.28, which permits general verdicts. *See* Appellant’s Br. at pp.36–50. This issue was not raised or decided below, and this Court should decline to consider it. *See*

Meier, 641 N.W.2d at 537. However, the State submits that if this Court were inclined to consider her unpreserved constitutional challenge, under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance it would be more appropriate to first consider whether there was sufficient evidence on both theories presented to the jury. *See, e.g., State v. Button*, 622 N.W.2d 480, 485 (Iowa 2001) (“Ordinarily we will not pass upon constitutional arguments if there are other grounds on which to resolve the case.”). And because, as explained below, the evidence was sufficient on both theories, it is unnecessary to determine whether the legislative amendment is constitutional. The question should be left for a controversy where it may affect the outcome.

Standard of Review

“Sufficiency of evidence claims are reviewed for a correction of errors at law.” *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012) (citing *State v. Keopasaeth*, 645 N.W.2d 637, 639–40 (Iowa 2002)).

“To the extent we are required to engage in statutory construction, our review is for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009) (citing *State v. Shuyter*, 763 N.W.2d 575, 579 (Iowa 2009)). Constitutional claims are

reviewed de novo. *Id.* (citing *In re Det. of Morrow*, 616 N.W.2d 544, 547 (Iowa 2009)).

Merits

West Vangen argues there was insufficient evidence supporting either of the State's theories: that West Vangen acted as a principal or by aiding and abetting others. *See* Appellant's Br. at pp.30–34. She further submits that even if the evidence was sufficient on only one theory, her conviction should be overturned because recently enacted legislation permitting general verdicts is unconstitutional. *See* Appellant's Br. at pp.36–50. The State disagrees and submits the evidence was sufficient on both theories, and thus, consideration of the constitutional questions is unnecessary. *See, e.g., Button*, 622 N.W.2d at 485. In the alternative, the constitutional challenge to the legislation is without merit.

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence does not allow a reviewing court to weigh evidence or determine that the jury weighed the evidence incorrectly. “In determining the correctness of a ruling on a motion for judgment of acquittal, we do not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass upon the credibility of witnesses, or weigh the evidence.” *State v. Hutchison*, 721 N.W.2d 776, 780 (Iowa 2006)

(citing *Williams*, 695 N.W.2d at 28). Instead, “review on questions of sufficiency of the evidence is to determine if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict of the jury.” *State v. Martens*, 569 N.W.2d 482, 484 (Iowa 1997) (citing *State v. Monk*, 514 N.W.2d 448, 451 (Iowa 1994)). This occurs when “a rational trier of fact could have found that the elements of the crime were established beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Keopasa euth*, 645 N.W.2d at 640 (citing *State v. Anderson*, 517 N.W.2d 208, 211 (Iowa 1994)). In conducting its analysis, this Court should “consider all evidence, not just the evidence supporting the conviction, and view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, ‘including legitimate inferences and presumptions that may fairly and reasonably be deduced from the record evidence.’” *State v. Ernst*, 954 N.W.2d 50, 54 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *State v. Tipton*, 897 N.W.2d 653, 692 (Iowa 2017)).

First, West Vangen challenges the sufficiency of the evidence under the theory that she acted as principal. *See* Appellant’s Br. at pp.30–32. Specifically, she argues there was insufficient evidence that she exited her car and damaged the victim’s vehicle. *Id.* The State submits West Vangen’s analysis of the evidence is flawed and should be rejected.

West Vangen made admissions that directly inculpated her as a principal. She admitted both in her interview with the police and at trial that she drove her car to the victim's house. T.Tr. Vol.I 56:7–57:7, 82:16–84:24; *see* State's Ex. 14 (body camera video) at 8:10–:20 (“No. I was driving my car, but I didn't get out of the car. But I don't know the person's name . . .”), 13:25–:35. And in her interview, West Vangen was adamant there was only one other person with her when she drove there. T.Tr. Vol.I 55:19–57:7, Vol.II 28:10–:22; State's Ex. 14 (body camera video) at 13:25–:35 (“Q. You just drove there? A. Yep. Q. Okay. A. One hundred percent. Q. And it was you and ‘Kosher’? A. Yep. Q. No one else? A. Nope.”).

Officer Tyler Richardson located and reviewed a neighbor's security camera video that captured the vandalism to the victim's car. T.Tr. Vol. I 46:7–:22. He was unable to directly download the video file, so he recorded the video from a digital camera as it played on the screen which resulted in a somewhat reduced quality video for the trial exhibit. *See* T.Tr. Vol.I 47:6–:16. The video showed West Vangen's car pulling directly alongside the victim's car, a male passenger getting out of the passenger side and stabbing a tire, while a person gets out of the driver's side and hits the car with what

appears to be a bat. *See* T.Tr. Vol.I 48:11–50:4: State’s Ex. 13 (recording of surveillance video) at 0:00–0:30. Richardson testified that when he reviewed the video in person on the security camera’s recording device, he could clearly see the person exiting West Vangen’s car on the driver’s side was the driver:

I remember, when I watched it, I was able to much more easily see the driver get out, and you can see them swinging an object at the car. I had a harder time seeing that today.

...

And when I watched the original video, you could see the person. You could that person there clear. Not clearly [enough] to see their face, but you can clearly tell it was an individual. I was able to tell that that was the driver of the vehicle.

T.Tr. Vol.I 46:1–:7, 71:24–72:11. And when he compared West Vangen’s car in person to the car on the video, the vehicles were consistent. T.Tr. Vol.I 50:5–51:13. Additionally, Richardson located a small metal bat behind the driver’s seat, and the bat had damage that he explained was consistent with the bat having been used to cause the damage to the car. T.Tr. Vol.I 51:14–52:8.

The evidence in the light most favorable to the State shows West Vangen was the person who got out of the car to commit the criminal mischief. She admitted that she was the driver, and

Richardson could see it was the driver who exited her vehicle and hit the victim's car with a bat. And even if there was skepticism about whether it was the driver who exited or not, West Vangen was adamant that it was only her and one other person in the car, and the video unambiguously showed two people from the car committed the damage. Thus, by her own admissions, West Vangen was necessarily the person who exited the car and used the bat. It was a reasonable inference to conclude she committed the criminal mischief, and the evidence was sufficient to establish her culpability as principal.

On appeal, West Vangen attempts to undermine the evidence by noting the car's brake lights remained illuminated during the damage, "meaning the driver must have remained seated with her foot depressing the brake pedal throughout the incident." *See* Appellant's Br. at p.31. But this speculative assertion is at odds with the record actually introduced at trial. Richardson was directly confronted with this question, and he explained the lights may have remained illuminated from the use of a parking brake or an emergency brake. T.Tr. Vol.II 15:6–:10 ("Q. To your knowledge, is there any way that a brake light is going to be on if there's not an individual pressing the brakes? A. Yes, if there was some sort of parking brake or emergency

brake applied.”). Thus, if the jury found Richardson’s explanation credible, they could conclude West Vangen—the admitted driver—acted as a principal. *See State v. Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d 670, 673 (Iowa 1993) (“The jury is free to believe or disbelieve any testimony as it chooses and to give weight to the evidence as in its judgment such evidence should receive.”); *State v. Blair*, 347 N.W.2d 416, 420 (Iowa 1984) (“The very function of the jury is to sort out the evidence presented and place credibility where it belongs.”); *State v. Turner*, No. 15-2130, 2017 WL 108304, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2017) (citing *State v. Neitzel*, 801 N.W.2d 612, 624 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)) (“We will not interfere with such credibility determinations absent ‘those rare circumstances where the testimony is absurd, impossible, or self-contradictory.’ ”). The evidence was sufficient to conclude West Vangen acted as a principal.

Second, West Vangen argues the evidence was insufficient to find she aided and abetted others. *See Appellant’s Br.* at pp.32–34. Although West Vangen admitted that she drove the vehicle, thus necessarily providing transportation to the passenger—or passengers if her trial testimony was to be believed—that unquestionably committed the criminal mischief, she argues on appeal this was

insufficient to prove she aided and abetted them because she did not knowingly approve and agree to the commission of the crime.

Appellant's Br. at pp.32–33. Instead, she argues she thought she was driving to the victim's house in the dark at 5:29 in the morning to collect money she was owed. Appellant's Br. at p.33. But West Vangen's argument can be easily discarded because she is only relying on the credibility of her own self-serving testimony which the jury was free to reject. *E.g., Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d at 673. The jury was under no obligation to believe her testimony, especially when her story kept changing, and when she appeared to admit she had difficulty remembering and that she had “mental problems.”

Compare State's Ex. 14 (first claiming she was not in the car, then claiming her husband was not in the car and that it was only her and “Kosher” in the vehicle but nobody else), *with* T.Tr. Vol.I 82:16–85:13, 94:20–97:24 (now claiming there were two other people in the car, and admitting that “Kosher” was in fact her husband's nickname); *see also* T.Tr. Vol.I 96:16–:23, Vol.II 9:23–12:6. Because West Vangen admitted she drove the perpetrators to the victim's house in the dark, early morning hours, drove on the wrong side of the road in order to stop her vehicle directly alongside the victim's

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